

## MAKERERE UNIVESITY BUSINESS SCHOOL

## IMPROVING ON THE LOAN PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE IN ORIENT

## **BANK LIMITED**

BY

ADONG NAOME

2011/HD10/4530U

Email:naosadong@gmail.com

Tel: 0776895079/0701895079

## **SUPERVISED BY**

## **DR. ISAAC NEWTONKAYONGO**

# A RESEARCH REPORT SUBMITTED TO MAKERERE UNIVERSITY BUSINESS

## SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTFOR THE AWARD

## OF MASTER OF BANKING AND INVESTMENT OF

## MAKERERE UNIVERSITY

## PLAN B

## NOVEMBER, 2014

## DECLARATION

I Adong Naome declare that this is my original research report and has not been submitted to any University for an award.

SIGNITURE:.....DATE.....

ADONG NAOME

2011/HD10/4530U

## APPROVAL

The research report on improving on loan portfolio management in Orient Bank by Adong Naome was carried out under my supervision and submitted with my approval as the supervisor.

Signature:.....Date: .....

## **DR. KAYONGO ISAAC NEWTON**

**SUPERVISOR** 

## DEDICATION

This research report is lovingly dedicated to my One and Only Father Mr Labongo Alfred, My dearest and loving Mother Mrs. Labongo Grace, my Sisters and friends Obedgiu Vincent and Okumu Moses who laid a firm foundation for my education and I will forever be grateful.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I wish to send my deep heart appreciation to the almighty God for the gift of life and divine protection during the preparation of the research report. I would like to recognize everyone who provided material, spiritual and moral support for the organization of the different research body. Special appreciation goes to my supervisor Dr. Kayongo Isaac Newton for the academic guidance and inspiration amidst his tight schedule in office. I also remain indebted to all my lecturers of Masters Banking and Investment Management. I would like to express my sincere appreciation to the following people; My Loving Father and Mother Mr. and Mrs. Labongo, and My Sisters especially Olive, Joyce and Anne for their financial and emotional support throughout the program.

I would like to appreciate those who generously contributed and shared their knowledge especially Dr. Isaac Kayongo, Mr. Obedgiu Vincent, Mr. Okumu Moses and Ms. Kawino Daphine for they have value in my academic and professional development.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Decla	rationi
Appro	val2
Dedic	ationiii
Ackno	owledgementiv
Table	of Contentsv
Abstra	actviii
CHA	PTER ONE
INTR	ODUCTION
1.1	Background Of The Study 1
1.2	Statement Of The Problem
1.3	Purpose Of The Study
1.4	Objectives Of The Study 4
1.5	Research Questions
1.6	The Scope Of The Study5
1.6.2	Geographical Scope
1.6.3	Time Scope
1.7	Significance Of The Study5
CHA	PTER TWO
LITE	RATURE REVIEW
2.1	Introduction
2.2	Evaluating The Lending Process And Procedures
2.3	Assessment Of Loan Portfolio Performance

2.4	Measures Adopted To Improve Loan Portfolio Performance	13
2.5	Conclusion	18
CHAF	PTER THREE	
RESE	ARCH METHODOLOGY	
3.1	Research Design	19
3.2	Target Population	19
3.3	Sampling Size	19
3.4	Sampling Techniques	20
3.5	Data Sources And Collection Methods	20
3.6	Research Procedure	20
3.7	Reliability And Validity Of The Instruments	21
3.8	Measurement Of The Variable	22
3.9	Data Analysis And Reporting	22
3.10	Ethical Considerations	22

## **CHAPTER FOUR**

## PRESENTATION OF RESEARCH FINDINGS

4.1	Introduction	. 24
4.2	Respondent's Characteristics	. 24
4.2.1	Gender Of The Respondents	. 24
4.2.2	Level Of Education	. 25
4.2.3	Age Of Respondents	. 26
4.2.4	Number Of Years Worked With The Bank	. 26
4.2.5	Working Experience With Other Bank	. 27

CHAPTER FIVE			
4.5	Measures To Improve Loan Portfolio Performance In Orient Bank	33	
4.4	Assessment Of Loan Portfolio Performance In Orient Bank	29	
4.3	Evaluation Of Lending Process And Procedures In Orient Bank	27	

## DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1	Introduction	35
5.2	Discussion Of Findings	35
5.2.1	Lending Process And Procedures In Orient Bank Limited	35
5.2.2	Assessment Of Loan Portfolio Performance In Orient Bank Limited	36
5.2.3	Measures To Improve Loan Portfolio Performance In Orient Bank Limited	37
5.3	Conclusions	38
5.4	Recommendations	39
5.5	Limitations Of The Study	41
5.6	Areas Of Further Studies	41
Refere	nces	42
Appen	dix I	49

#### ABSTRACT

Lending is the principal business activity for most commercial bank that has attracted a lot of investment in the banking sector across the globe. However, the lending activity has suffered significant losses and drop in profit due to continued economic slowdown, leading to poor portfolio performances which continue to prevail among financial institutions in Uganda. There has been less attention given to address the effect of portfolio performance, Hence the need for the study with the aim of improving loan portfolio performance with reference to Orient Bank Limited. Emphasis was put on the bank's lending process, assessment of the banks loan portfolio performance and the measures adopted to improve loan portfolio performance.

The study used cross sectional and descriptive research design. The population of the study was 62 employees from which 59 employees were selected to constitute the sample size. The selection was based on Krejcie and Morgan (1970). Sampling method applied was simple random sampling to pick employees from each branch. The data for study consisted of primary data which was collected from the bank using questionnaire and analyzed using SPSS version to derive descriptive statistics. Later presented in form of tables to draw conclusion and meaning out of the data presented.

The findings revealed that the bank has the best lending process and procedures with mean values of 4.51 and standard deviation .458. The loan portfolio performance is poor as mean figures of the performance is 3.52 and standard deviation is .654. While measures adopted to improve the bank's portfolio performance is good since it scored a mean value of 4.51 and standard deviation of .385. The bank needs to improve on its loan portfolio performance by evaluating on lending process/procedures and adopt appropriate techniques to improve on portfolio quality and performance.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

### **INTRODUCTION**

### **1.1** Background of the study

Lending is the principal business activity for most commercial banks that has attracted a lot of investment in the banking sectors across the globe (Cornett, 2003). The bank's lending forms loan portfolios, which is the largest asset and predominantly the source of bank's revenue, yet one of the greatest sources of risk to a bank's safety and soundness that need to be properly managed (Louis et al., 2003). Historically, poor portfolio management has been responsible for bank failures and losses (Koch, 2000). For instance, in the early 2000s, Uganda witnessed a collapse and painful closure of lending institutions, mainly because they had lent out irrecoverable sums of money to their borrowers (Mugume, 2012).an example of such banks include Global Trust Bank, Green land Bank. International Credit Bank, Cooperative Bank and Gold trust bank.

Mwesigwa (2014) stated that leading banks suffered significant losses or a drop in profits as the ripple effects of the economic slow-down continue to be felt. Six banks recorded losses in what turned out to be tumultuous for financial institutions. The banks attributed the decline and poor performance of their loan portfolios to a reduction in loans and advances, failures to diversify credit portfolios (Munyambonera, 2014). Mugume (2014) stated that the slow economic activity in Uganda had contributed to more bad commercial loans, hence poor performance in loan portfolios, thus a need to improve loan portfolio management

Loan portfolio management (LPM) involves evaluating the steps bank management takes to identify and control risk inherent in the credit process to prevent credit risks before they become real problems (Cornett, 2003). For decades, loan portfolio managers have capitalized

on approving loans and monitoring loan performance. Effective loan portfolio management begins with oversight of the risk in individual loans to maintain favorable loan quality (Cebenoyan & Strahan, 2004). Controlling the quality of individual loan approvals and managing the performance of loans continues to be essential, banks have developed sufficient systems to measure and price risk within credits and portfolios management systems (Comptroller's Handbook, 2002).

Commercial banks in Uganda are experiencing high default rate on loan products that affects the loan portfolio performance hence credit risk resulting into reduction of capital investment (Mugume, 2014). The credit default rate is reportedly increasing in Uganda, despite the financial institutions credit risk mitigation measures. Lending Institutions have increasingly recorded high rates of non-performing loans, portfolios at risk and written-off loans amount (Bank of Uganda Report, 2011). The level of non-performing loans have increased from 4.9% in September to 6.9% in December, 2013, however, these are industry's absolute figures going to the individual bank the rate vary considerably as the case is with Orient Bank (Mugume, 2014).

Orient Bank Limited is one of the Commercial Banks in Uganda. The bank has a specialized credit department to handle credit matters and improve on the bank's loan portfolios.

In the year 2010, 2011 and 2012 the bank's portfolios has been growing while the portfolio quality has been declining as depicted in the table below:

YEAR	PORTFOLIO GROWTH	PORTFOLIOQUALITY(NPA RATE)
2010	5%	1%
2011	8%	0.62%
2012	26%	5.07%

The poor loan quality exposes the bank to high levels of credit risk; once not checked, it would result in depletion of the owner's capital invested in the bank leading to collapse of the bank. Measures undertaken to improve the bank's portfolio quality is of great relief to the bank's survival.

### **1.2** Statement of the Problem

The lifeblood of financial institutions lies on the quality of loan portfolios. The success of the institution depends on how well that portfolio is managed. For many years, loan portfolio managers have devoted most of their effort on cautiously approving and monitoring their loans performance. However, credit records revealed that commercial, agricultural and real estate lending has been registering high default rates (Mugume, 2014). The Credit Officers need to do more to improve on the quality of the bank's portfolios. Orient Bank has been experiencing a growth in Non-performing loans hence affecting the loan portfolio performance. Despite the fact that the banks have secured the loan portfolios and put in place a series of credit management policies to mitigate default rates on NPAs; Orient bank's Loan portfolio quality has been dropping from to 1% in 2010; 0.62 % in 2011 and 5.07% 2012 which is subsequently threatening the bank's profitability (Financial Report, 2010, 211 & 2012).Despite

Bank's effort to improve on its loan portfolios quality, the bank's loan portfolios has not recorded a remarkable improvements within the three years periods, the portfolio quality has remained low in last three years. It is upon such setbacks suffered in the corporate loan portfolio that the study seeks to improve on loan portfolio in Orient Bank.

#### **1.3 Purpose of the study**

The purpose of the study is to improve on the loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited.

### **1.4** Objectives of the study

The study was undertaken to accomplish the following objectives:

- 1. To evaluate the lending process and procedures in Orient Bank Limited.
- 2. To assess loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited.
- 3. To evaluate the effectiveness of the measures adopted to improve loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited.

### **1.5** Research questions

The study was undertaken to respond to the following questions:

- 1. What are the lending processes and procedures for loans in Orient Bank Limited?
- 2. How is loan portfolio performance assessed in Orient Bank Limited?
- 3. What is the effectiveness of the measures adopted to improve loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited?

### **1.6** The scope of the study

#### **1.6.1** Content Scope

The study focused on loan portfolio performance and management. Specific emphasis was put on evaluating the lending procedures and process, assess loan portfolio performance and evaluate measures of improving loan portfolio performance.

### **1.6.2 Geographical Scope**

The study was carried out at Orient Bank Limited, Head Office located on Plot 6/6A Kampala Road, Orient Plaza, Kampala, Uganda.

#### 1.6.3 Time Scope

Data was collected from the year 2010 to year 2012 to clearly evaluate the bank's loan portfolio performance over different time interval.

### **1.7** Significance of the study

The findings of this study may be useful to the managers of the bank, in their efforts to have good loan portfolios.

Managers of similar organizations may also find the study beneficial, since credit services that will be studied may be similar to those of other organizations; notably other banks and financial institutions.

Finally, researchers and students of banking in general and credit management in particular might find the study useful, since it adds to the pool of literature on loan Portfolio performance.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

### 2.1 Introduction

This section presents a review of literature related to improving loan Portfolio performance. It is divided according to the objectives of the study such as evaluating the lending process and procedures, assessment of loan portfolio performance, and evaluates the effectiveness of the measures adopted to improve loan portfolio performance.

### 2.2 Evaluating the lending process and procedures

**Credit verification**: This involves Profiling of prospective borrowers to generate information on their personal identification particulars, employment details, credit status and history, saving patterns, spending patterns and public record information (Mugume, 2014). Credit verification mainly focuses on scrutinizing prospective borrowers' credit worthiness and, subsequently, guiding lending institutions in selecting customers for credit extension. Orient Bank Limited advices its loan officers to use the 7Cs (character, capacity, conditions, cash flow, and collateral, common business sense) to enable meaningful evaluation during the verification procedure (Kaddu, 2014).

**Credit approval**: Process through which a borrower's credit verification report compiled by a loans officer is validated by the lenders peers or supervisors to ensure that there are no gaps in the verification report submitted and that the report is a good basis for the granting of a credit facility (Kaboyo, 2014). This is usually done by the Management Credit Committee and Board Credit Committee. When documents are submitted for consideration and approval, the Board or Management Credit Committee may approve or reject or give instructions for further

appraisal or verification. When approved, offer letters are made with amounts, interest rates, repayments and other conditions which are availed to the customer for signing and return to the Bank (Mugume, 2010).

**Credit disbursement:** Process through which approved loans are booked into the system for the customer to access monies approved to them. This process is only done after the bank has received fully signed documents from the customer and the customer has fully completed formalities regarding documentation, registration of collateral, insurance cover and other legal documentations (EBID EOWWAS Disbursement Manual, 2009).

**Credit Monitoring**: According to the Wikipedia Online Encyclopedia, credit monitoring is a description of the process of keeping up with the progress of the project(s) for which credit was obtained, to ensure that any shortfalls are identified in good time and remedial actions are taken so as to prevent the borrower from failing to pay (<u>www.wikipedia.org</u>). A proper credit monitoring system will provide the basis for taking prompt corrective actions when warning signs point to deterioration in the financial health of the borrower that signal unauthorized drawings, arrears, excess drawing.

Credit monitoring should be done, even in instances where credit verification and approval are well done and indicate a good credit rating, because the borrowers may misappropriate the credit disbursed to him or her, with the result that he or she is unable to meet the repayment obligations that come with the loan. This therefore implies that in addition the credit officers and analysis to their efforts in the area of credit verification and approval, lending institutions should also endeavor to monitor their borrowers' utilization of the loans disbursed to them. Conversely, this suggested that, in instances where credit default rates are rising, lenders' monitoring of their borrowers' activities (or the lack of it) should be investigated.

**Credit Recovery**: These are Activities directed at ensuring that borrowers meet their contractual obligation to pay the lender when due; including such activities as reminding the borrower that their payments are due; and attachment of securities on loans and execution of relevant arbitration procedures in case of borrowers that may be defaulting on their re-payment obligations.

#### 2.3 Assessment of loan portfolio performance

Financial Dictionary defined portfolios as loans that have been made or bought and are held for repayment. Loan portfolios are the major asset of banks, and other lending institutions. The value of a loan portfolio depends not only on the interest rates earned on the loans, but also on the quality or like hood that interest and principal will be paid.

The loan portfolio is typically the largest asset and the predominate source of revenue. As such, it is one of the greatest sources of risk to a bank's safety and soundness. The level of interest risk attributed to the bank's lending activities depends on the composition of its loan portfolio and the degree to which the terms of its loans (e.g., maturity, rate structure, and embedded options) expose the bank's revenue stream to changes in rates (Comptroller's hand book, 1998).

Effective management loan portfolio and credit function is fundamental to a bank's safety and soundness. Loan portfolio management is the process by which risks that are inherent in the credit process are managed and controlled. Good loan portfolio managers have concentrated most of their effort on prudently approving loans and carefully monitoring loan performance.

All banks need to have basic loan portfolio management principles in place in some form. This includes determining whether the risks associated with the bank's lending activities are accurately identified and appropriately communicated to senior management and the board of directors, and, when necessary, whether appropriate corrective action is taken (Comptroller's hand book, 1998).

Loan portfolio management (LPM) is the process by which risks that are inherent in the credit process are managed and controlled. Because review of the loan portfolio management process is so important, it is a primary supervisory activity. Assessing LPM involves evaluating the steps bank management takes to identify and control risk throughout the credit process. The assessment should focus on what management does to identify issues before they become problems (Comptroller's Hand Book, 1989).

Specific measurable goals for the portfolio are established by loan portfolio objectives. They are an outgrowth of the credit culture and risk profile (Comptroller's Hand Book, 1989). The board of directors must ensure that loans are made with the following three basic objectives in mind:

- To grant loans on a sound and collectible basis.
- To invest the bank's funds profitably for the benefit of shareholders and the protection of depositors.
- To serve the legitimate credit of their communities.

Banks require that senior management and the board of directors to develop medium- and long- term strategic plans to meet objectives for the loan portfolio. These strategies should be consistent with the strategic direction and risk tolerance of the institution. They should be developed with a clear understanding of their risk/reward consequences. They should be reviewed periodically and modified as appropriate.

Loan portfolio performance, on the other hand, refers to the rate of profitability or rate or return of an investment in various loan products thus broadly, it looks at the number of clients applying for loans, how much they are borrowing, timely payment of installments, security pledged against the borrowed funds, rate of arrears recovery and the number of loan products on the chain. The loan products may comprise of; Salary loans, Group guaranteed loans, Individual loans and corporate loan (Puxty et al, 1991).

Since one of the main tasks of commercial banks is to offer loans and their main source of risk is credit risk, that is, the uncertainty associated with borrowers' repayment of these loans. A non- performing loan (NPL) may be defined as a loan that has been unpaid for ninety days or more (Greenidge and Grosvenor, 2010). Such loans unpaid affect the bank loan portfolio performance.

For effective loan portfolio performance banks should pay attention to several factors when providing loans in order to curtail the level of impaired loans (Khemraj and Pasha, 2010). Specifically, commercial banks need to consider the international competitiveness of the domestic economy since this may impair the ability of borrowers form the key export oriented sectors to repay their loans which in turn would result in higher nonperforming loans. These lending institutions should also take the performance of the real economy into account when extending loans given the reality that loan delinquencies are likely to be higher during periods of economic downturn. Finally, banks should constantly review the interest rates on loans since loan delinquencies are higher for banks which increase their real interest rates.

According to Kaboyo (2014) observed that the large amount of bad debts that were written off not only erodes the industry's profitability but also exerts pressure on banks' net worth, which in turn lowers banks' ability to take risks such as investing in business expansion. Kaddu (2014) attributes the increase in the amount of written off debts to borrowing based on speculations rather than business plans and lack of financial disciplines.

Mugume (2012) noted that there are various factors that could lead to non performing loans which eventually affect the loan portfolio performance in the banking Industry includes;

**Credit risk of the loan portfolio** also is one of the factors that influence loan portfolio performance. It plays an important role mainly for banking institutions, which try to develop their own credit risk assessment models in order to increase bank portfolio quality (Jakubik, 2007). Together with risk management the need to evaluate the performance of banks in a more efficient way was identified and enhanced not only by supervising institutions, regulators and bank management bodies but also by clients, as their concern about the stability and sustainability of these financial institutions has grown significantly. This influences a rethink of the applicability of current performance evaluation techniques and credit risk assessment models along with their improvement (Stankeviciene & Mencaite, 2012).

#### **Macroeconomic conditions**

Liang (2012) affirms that a relevant macro factor should be one that has a broad impact on most firms' creditworthiness. Festic, Kavkler and Repina (2011) affirm that changes in the macroeconomic environment translate into changes in the quality of a loan portfolio in banks. Favourable macroeconomic conditions coincide with better capabilities in loan repayment, a

lower probability of default (PD), a lower share of non-performing loans to total loans (the NPL ratio).

Hamerle et al. (2011) also agrees that credit risk is correlated with macroeconomic variables or risk factors. In economic downturns, default probabilities increase and ratings deteriorate. The Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth is considered as an important macro determinant of bank performance and allows for controlling business cycle fluctuations. During recessions the quality of loans declines and therefore companies borrow at higher margins, therefore a negative relationship between credit spread and economic growth is to be expected. Naceur and Omran (2011) found that prevailing business cycle conditions affect net interest margins. The GDP can significantly influence the borrower's ability to repay the loans as evidences suggest that higher GDP growth will have a negative correlation with current NPA (Thiagarajan et al., 2011). According to Gaganis *et al.* (2010) the GDP growth not only reduces non-performing loans, but it can also delay banking crises due to pro-cyclicality.

Economic expansion will influence the default rate for the aggregate economy as demand for goods and services increase. Accordingly, increased profitability decreases the default rate. GDP turned out to be a significant factor in explaining default risk in various countries. This is consistent with Moody's report on historical default rates, in which they argue that cyclical indicators are highly correlated with the number of defaults, the number of credit rating downgrades and credit spreads. Regarding Debt-to-GDP ratio, debt of general government has a positive effect on default rate (Ali & Daly, 2010).

#### 2.4 Measures adopted to improve loan portfolio performance

Lending is the principal business activity for most commercial banks. The loan portfolio is typically the largest asset and the predominate source of revenue. As such, it is one of the greatest sources of risk to a bank's safety and soundness. Whether due to lax credit standards, poor portfolio risk management, or weakness in the economy, loan problems have historically been the major cause of bank losses and failures (Comptroller's Handbook, 2000).

According to the Comptroller's Handbook (2000), effective loan portfolio management begins with oversight of the risk in individual loans. Prudent risk selection is vital to maintaining favorable loan quality. Therefore, the historical emphasis on controlling the quality of individual loan approvals and managing the performance of loans continues to be essential. But better technology and information systems have opened the door to better management methods. A portfolio manager can now obtain early indications of increasing risk by taking a more comprehensive view of the loan portfolio. In retrospect, a well positioned management information system is an avenue for loan portfolio quality which then leads to a good loan portfolio performance.

#### **Assessment of Credit**

The three processes in assessment of credit in commercial banks include Loan Approval Process, Loan Monitoring Process, and Loan Termination Process. Understanding each of the mentioned processes in the assessment of credit is central to successful loan portfolio management. Because of the significance of a bank's lending activities, the influence of the assessment of credit culture frequently extends to other bank activities. Staff members throughout the bank should understand the bank's assessment credit culture. The knowledge should pass from the credit officer to credit analyst to administrative support. Directors and senior management should not only publicly endorse the credit standards that are an assessment of credit culture's backbone but should also employ them when formulating strategic plans and overseeing portfolio management (Milton, 2000).

#### **Analysis of Loans**

Analysis of loans varies from bank to bank. Some banks' analysis of loans is done using a very conservative approach, as a result of lending only to financially strong, well-established borrowers. Growth-oriented banks may approach lending more aggressively, lending to borrowers who pose a higher repayment risk which calls for a rather more sensitive analysis of loans. These differences are grounded in a bank's objectives for asset quality, growth, and earnings. Emphasizing one of these objectives over another does not, in and of itself, preclude achieving satisfactory performance in all three (Saunders, 2003).

However, the emphasis on approach to analysis of loans will influence how lending activities are conducted and may prompt changes in credit policies and risk control systems. For example, a bank driven to achieve aggressive growth targets may require more detailed credit policies and more controlling administrative and monitoring systems to manage the analysis of loans. Consistently successful banks achieve a balance between asset quality, growth, and earnings. They have cultural values, credit policies, and processes that reinforce each other and that are clearly communicated, well understood, and carefully followed (Saunders, 2003).

#### **Portfolio Diversification**

Portfolio diversification remains an important part of managing a bank's credit risk, but portfolio diversification also involves looking at entire segments of the portfolio groups of loans with similar risk characteristics. Bank management may make a different decision about underwriting requirements for an individual transaction if it takes into account the risk profile of the bank's entire portfolio rather than focusing only on the individual transaction (Zarruk, 1989).

Munyambonera (2013) agrees that banks need to effectively diversify its loans or else this leads to a reduction of loans and advances which then leads to the decline and poor performance of loan portfolio. Effective portfolio diversification requires an understanding of all of the risk characteristics of the portfolio. A bank should segment its portfolio in a number of different ways; for example, by loan type, industry, geography, structure, collateral, tenor, and risk of default or loss. The same loan may be included in several portfolio segments based on different risk elements. Portfolio diversification is fundamental to portfolio management. The bank should identify the risk characteristics of each segment as part of concentration management; the bank also should try to identify possible covariance, similarities, or interrelationships among portfolio segments (Zarruk, 1992).

### **Portfolio Risk**

Banking is both a risk-taking and profit-making business, and bank loan portfolios should return profits commensurate with their risk. Although this concept is intellectually sound and almost universally accepted by bankers and examiners alike, banks have had difficulty implementing it. Over the years, volatility in banks' earnings usually has been linked to the loan portfolio. While there are many contributing factors including market forces, anxiety for income, poor risk measurement, and weak risk management, a common underlying factor has been banks' tendency to underestimate or underpriced credit risk (Sarkar, 2002).

Because bank managements and boards are responsible for serving their communities, achieving acceptable shareholder returns, and protecting the interests of depositors, they need to ensure that the loan portfolio provides consistent, reasonable returns. Individual credits and portfolio segments should be priced to provide reasonable shareholder returns while maintaining adequate capital and allowance levels. The price (index rate, spread, and fees) charged for an individual credit should cover funding costs, overhead/administrative expenses, the required profit margin (generally expressed as a return on assets or equity) and risk (Sarkar, 2002).

Funding costs are relatively easy to measure and incorporate into loan pricing. Measuring overhead and administrative costs is more complicated because banks traditionally have not had strong cost accounting systems. Additionally, common services with differing or ambiguous values to each user (What, for example, is the dollar value of loan review?) can be difficult to measure. The required profit margin is a straightforward concept and is usually derived from the strategic plan. This leaves "risk," which is the crux of the pricing dilemma. The methods used to incorporate risk into loan pricing decisions range from simple "pro-rata" allocations of existing loan loss reserves and capital to complex estimations of default frequency and probability, loss levels, and loss volatility (Comptroller's Handbook, 2002).

Both bankers and examiners, however, must be alert to inappropriate application of relationship pricing and return methods. Loans may be booked at unprofitable rates based on the assumption, or promise, that other profitable business will follow. When the other business fails to materialize, the returns may be insufficient to compensate the bank for the credit risk. Banks should have systems to accurately measure relationship returns, and must exercise tight

controls over loans granted on the basis that relationship profitability will be achieved in the future (Sarkar, 2002).

Portfolio risk and return concepts encompass almost all of the credit risk measurement and management principles. Ultimately, the risks in individual credits, lending relationships, portfolio segments, and entire portfolios will be incorporated into pricing decisions through discrete risk-based allowance and capital charges. For now, pricing for risk continues to be a developing science. Banks are encouraged to develop sufficient systems to measure and price risk within credits and portfolios accordingly (Comptroller's Handbook, 2002).

#### **Credit Policies**

Credit Policies and Procedures in Orient Bank is catered for by the Internal Memorandum which provides a framework for the entire management process and sets objective standards and parameters that guide the bank officers in the granting of loans and the management of the loan portfolio. The policy is set to establish a framework within which the credit risk arising from lending will be originated and managed in order to minimize the risk of financial loss (Internal Memorandum, 2009).

The policies within Orient Bank involve interaction with customer; visits to premises of customers officers credit supervisors; credit analysis and appraisal of the customer based on the 7c's (character, capacity, condition, collateral, capital/cash flow and common business sense (a write up document and executive summary are prepared for presentation to the committee); recommendation by branch loans committee to the head office; monitoring and recovery of the loan by credit officers. In case of complete failure to recover the loans, the branch management

refers the cases to the legal department, which in turn forwards them to the recovery team (Internal Memorandum, 2009).

## 2.5 Conclusion

Banks are entrusted with savers' money. They should ensure that the savers' money is always there when needed. The commercial bank has to ensure default rates are greatly minimized by evaluating the lending process or procedures, and adopting measures to improve loan portfolio performance.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### **RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

#### 3.1 Research design

The study used cross sectional design to analyze the situation of loan portfolios performance at Orient Bank Limited at one point in time and descriptive statistics was applied to describe the state of affairs regarding loan portfolio performance in the bank and the characteristics of the respondents using quantitative data.

#### **3.2** Target Population

Orient Bank Limited has many branches but the study mainly concentrated on 62 employees who are engaged in credit analysis, credit administration and control, credit recovery and relationship management at Head Office and branches. These were the people who have the reliable information needed by the researcher in order to come up with viable and accurate data and conclusion.

#### **3.3** Sampling size

The sample size was 59 employees chosen from the target population of 62 employees engaged in credit analysis, credit administration and control, credit recovery and relationship management. The selection of the sample size was based on Krejcie & Morgan (1970) sample size determination table (see Table 1).

#### **Table 1: Sample Size of Respondents**

Respondent	Target Population	Sample Size
Credit Analysts	3	3
Credit Administration & Control Officers	5	5
Credit Recovery Officers	4	4
Relationship Managers	20	19
Relationship Officers	30	28
Total	62	59

#### Source: Human Research, Orient Bank ltd (2014)

## **3.4 Sampling Techniques**

The selection of the sample size was based on simple random sampling techniques where a list of employees engaged in credit analysis, credit administration and control, credit recovery and relationship management were assigned random number put in a box picked without replacement to analyze the portfolio performance.

### **3.5** Data sources and collection methods

The study used primary data. Primary data was collected through questionnaires from selected employees who constituted the sample from Orient Bank Limited.

#### **3.6** Research procedure

The researcher got a letter of introduction from Graduate and Research Centre to introduce the researcher to Orient Bank. This letter was presented to the research department of the bank upon acknowledgement the researcher went on with data collection in the bank.

### **3.7** Reliability and validity of the instruments

The research instruments were developed from previous studies with modifications to suite the interest of the study. These instruments were given to experts in credit management, including the supervisor to ensure that the research instruments have face and content validity. However, Cronbach's Alpha coefficient and Content Validity Index (CVI) were used to compute the reliability and content validity of the instrument. The results are indicated in the table below:

**Figure 3.7.1 Reliability and validity Statistics of the instruments** 

Variable	No. of	Cronbach's	CVI
	Items	Alpha	
Evaluation of lending process or procedures	9	.770	.778
Assessment of loan portfolio performance	11	.805	.818
Measures to improve the loan portfolio performance	11	.804	.909

Source: primary data

According to the table above the Cronbach Alpha and CVI were above .70 and they were sufficient enough to draw valid conclusions on the study variables. This is consistent with Amin (2005) who stated that the reliability results of .70 or higher can be relied upon in research. Therefore, the instrument's reliability and CVI results affirm that all components of instrument were highly reliable and valid since Cronbach's alpha and CVI were greater than .70, an indication that the instruments were reliable and valid.

### **3.8** Measurement of the Variable

The study variable (i.e. Loan portfolio performance) was measured using Credit risk Measurement that uses Expert systems and subjective analysis (Altman & Saunders, 1998). Twenty (20) years ago most financial institutions (FIs) relied virtually exclusively on subjective analysis or the banker ``expert" systems to assess the credit risk on corporate loans. Essentially, when using Credit Risk Management to assess portfolios, the bankers use information on various borrower characteristics such as borrower character, capital (leverage), capacity (volatility of earnings), condition and collateral, the so-called 5 ``Cs" of credit, to reach a largely subjective judgment (i.e., that of an expert) as to whether or not to grant credit.

#### **3.9** Data analysis and reporting

After the researcher generated responses from the field the data was edited to ensure that data provided were complete to avoid instances of missing values. Questionnaires that were not fully completed did not form part of the analysis. The different items on the research objectives were given special codes to ease the analysis process. Statistical Package for Social Scientist (SPSS) version 20 was used to derive descriptive statistics in form of frequencies, percentages, mean, and standard deviation. The analysis was done according to the sample characteristics and research questions to derive meaning on the data for reporting.

#### **3.10** Ethical considerations

The research used identity documents from Makerere University to introduce herself to the management of Orient Bank Limited seeking permission to undertake the study in the organization. Assurance was made to management and staff that the information collected is

22

for academic purposes, measures was undertaken to safeguard the respondent's interest by not disclosing any information about them.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### **PRESENTATION OF RESEARCH FINDINGS**

### 4.1 Introduction

This chapter contains the presentation of findings based on the respondent's characteristics and research objectives. The chapter starts with presentation of the respondent's characteristics. The sample size was 59 respondents and 47 responses were received from the respondents.

#### 4.2 **Respondent's characteristics**

The characteristics of the respondents helped the researcher to put the results of the study into context. This section clearly illustrates the demographic composition of the respondents who participated in the study. The characteristics included; Gender, Marital status, Age, Education in different branches in Orient Bank as demonstrated in the tables below.

#### **4.2.1** Gender of the respondents

The table below depicts the gender of the respondents who took part in the study.

Gender	Frequency	Percent
Male	29	61.7
Female	18	38.3
Total	47	100.0

### **Table 4.1 Gender of respondents**

Source: Primary data

The above table shows that there were more male respondents (61.7%) compared to female respondents (38.3%) who were involved in the study. This indicates that the view presented in

the research report represents the view of both women and men employed in the bank, hence they are gender sensitive though their employment trend tend to favour more males than females.

### 4.2.2 Level of Education

This presents the level of education of the respondents who participated in the research study.

Level of Education	Frequency	Percent
Bachelor degree	32	68.1
Master degree	15	31.9
Total	47	100.0

## Table 4.2 Level of Education

Source: Primary data

The findings in table above revealed that 15 of the respondents (31.9%) had Master's degree, and those with Bachelor degree were 32 representing 68.1 %. The implication is that the bank employs highly qualified personnel with a minimum of a bachelor degree, which in one or the other are capable of promoting professionalism at the bank in the performance of different activities.

## 4.2.3 Age of respondents

The Age of respondents was studied the results are indicated in the table below.

Age	of Respondents	Frequency	Percent
	20-25 years	1	2.1
	25-30 years	14	29.8
Val	30-35 years	26	55.3
id	35 - 40 years	2	4.3
	40 Above	4	8.5
	Total	47	100.0

Table 4.3Age of respondents	Table	4.3Age	of res	pondents
-----------------------------	-------	--------	--------	----------

## Source: Primary data

The table shows that 55.3% of the respondents lies in the age group between 30-35 years, 29.8% fall between 25-30 years, 8.5% are above 40 years while 4.3% are in the age bracket 35-40 years and the lowest proportion of the age group in the bank lies in the age group of 20-25 years representing 2.1%. This indicates that the bank has matured employees who are capable of making informed decision regarding portfolio management in the bank.

### 4.2.4 Number of years worked with the bank

This contains the number of years the respondents have worked with the bank as shown the table below in the range of five years.

 Table 4.4Number of years worked with the bank

No. of years worked		Frequency	Percent	
Val	Less than 5 years	38	80.9	
	Less than 10 years	6	12.8	
id	Less than 15 years	3	6.3	
	Total	47	100.0	

Source: Primary data

Results in table 4.4 show that 80.9% of the respondents have worked for less than 5 years, 12.8% of the respondents have worked for less than 10 years while 6.3% worked for less than 15 years. Implying that employees in the bank have worked with the bank in years ranging between 1 year and 14 years, which equip the bank with some wealth of experience that bank can use to improve on its portfolio management.

#### 4.2.5 Working experience with other bank

There was a question raised to find out as to whether the respondents had with other banks as Credit Officer, Relationship Officer and Manager. The results revealed that 70.2% of the respondents had carried out similar assignments while 29.8% stated that they did not work in a similar position with other banks. The results are indicated in the table below:

Worked with other banks	Frequency	Percent	
Yes	33	70.2	
No	14	29.8	
Total	47	100.0	

 Table 4.5 Working experience with other bank

#### Source: Primary data

This indicates that 33 respondents of the bank have working knowledge of what they do on a routine basis while 14 of the respondents joined the bank as fresh graduate without banking experience.

### 4.3 Evaluation of lending process and procedures in Orient Bank

The researcher was interested in evaluating the lending process and procedures in the bank. The respondent's views were presented according to the nine items raised in the questionnaire in line the bank's lending process and procedures. The results are presented in the table below:

		Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
1.	The Bank starts its loan process after the borrower has applied for a loan.	47	3	5	4.64	.640
2.	The bank collects information on loan applicants before approving loans.	47	4	5	4.77	.428
3.	The bank collects information on loan applicant's credit history and status using credit reference Bureau.	47	2	5	4.49	.748
4.	The credit analyst checks the validity of information collected by Relationship officers/Relationship managers	47	3	5	4.72	.540
5.	The bank collects information on loan applicants banking activity.	47	1	5	4.34	1.147
6.	The reports compiled by the Relationship officers about loan applicants are validated by credit analysts.	47	1	5	4.26	1.113
7.	Credit analyst vets the borrowers basing on the valid information collected by the Relationship officers.	47	2	5	4.13	.875
8.	The loans are approved by Management credit Committee or Board Credit Committee before prior disbursement of loans or funds	47	3	5	4.85	.416
9.	The legal Team ensures that loans are given only to borrowers with perfected documentation details.	47	3	5	4.40	.648
A	verage	47	2.44	5	4.51	.458

# Table 4.6 Lending Process and Procedures in Orient Bank

Source: Primary Data

On a Likert's scale of 1 to 5, the respondents were asked to evaluate bank's lending process and procedures. On average, the respondent's rating of the bank's lending process and procedures of loan had an average mean score of 4.51 with a standard deviation (SD) of .458. The respondent's view on the items by exception revealed that following items were rated highly by the respondents: the bank loan is approved by Management Credit Committee or Board Credit Committee before disbursement (mean = 4.85, standard deviation = .416); the bank collects information on loan applicants before approving loans (mean = 4.77, standard deviation = .428); The bank starts the loan process when the borrower have applied for a loan (mean = 4.64, standard deviation = .640). While the items which were rated lowly were: Credit analyst vets the borrowers basing on the valid information collected by the Relationship officers (mean = 4.13, standard deviation = .875); the reports compiled by the Relationship Officers on Loan Applicants are validated by Credit Analysts (mean = 4.26, standard deviation = 1.113); the bank collects information on loan applicants banking activity (mean = 4.34, standard deviation = 1.147). The legal Team ensures loans are given to borrowers with perfected documentation and the bank collects information on loan applicant's credit history had a moderate a mean values 4.40 to 4.49 with standard deviations of .648 and .748 respectively.

#### 4.4 Assessment of Loan Portfolio Performance in Orient Bank

The researcher was interested in assessing loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank. To achieve the objective, several questions were raised in line with the research objectives. The results of the finding are presented in table below:

		N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
1.	It's very easy for the customer to get loans in the bank after they have put in their requests.	47	1	5	3.23	1.047
	The Lending process takes relatively a short time thus favouring the customer's needs	47	1	5	2.87	1.209
3.	The established/recommended lending process and procedure in the bank is strictly followed from the credit officer to approval.	47	1	5	3.30	1.301
4.	The draw down process by the credit admin team is strictly followed in terms of correct or set rates, amount, currency and accounts.	47	1	5	3.53	1.283
5.	Relationship officers/managers ensure close monitoring of the borrowers after money has been availed to them through frequent visits.	47	1	5	3.74	1.031
6.	As a relationship officer I review the Bank borrower's accounts daily to confirm that they still consistently bank with the bank.	47	1	5	3.68	1.218
7.	As a Credit officer I review the various reports (Arrears, excess, overdrawn accounts without limits) to ensure the clients don't become bad debtors.	47	1	5	3.72	.877
8.	As relationship officer/ Credit officer I have a strong relationship with my clients that in case of ups and downs in business I advice accordingly	47	2	5	3.51	.997
9.	As Credit officer once I find any anomaly with the borrowers financed project I duly inform my immediate supervisors.	47	1	5	3.87	.969
10.	As relationship officer/ Credit officer I remind the bank borrower in my portfolio at least a day before their due date to clear their due installment.	47	1	5	3.28	1.077

# Table 4.7 Assessment of loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank

11. As relationship officer/ Credit officer I duly update the clients file with all new information that I collect about any new developments.		1	5	3.96	1.250
Average	47	1.09	5	3.52	.654

#### Source: Primary Data

On a Likert's scale of 1 to 5, the respondents were asked to assess the loan portfolio performance of the bank. On average, the respondent's rating of the bank's loan portfolio performance had an average mean score of 3.52 with a standard deviation (SD) of .654. The respondent's view on the individual items revealed that Relationship Officer/Credit Officer updating the clients file were rated highly (Mean = 3.96, Standard Deviation = 1.250);followed by Credit Officer inform immediate supervisors of any anomaly with the client's financed project (mean = 3.87, standard deviation = .969); Relationship Officers ensure close monitoring of the borrowers after money has been availed (Mean = 3.74, standard deviation = 1.031);Credit Officer review the various reports to ensure the clients don't become bad debtors(Mean = 3.72, Standard Deviation = .877); Relationship Officer review the Bank borrower's accounts daily to confirm that they consistent with the bank's policy (Mean = 3.68, Standard Deviation = 1.218); The credit admin team strictly follows credit terms in relation to rates, amount, currency and accounts(Mean = 3.53, Standard Deviation = 1.283); Relationship Officer/Credit Officer have a strong relationship with my clients (Mean = 3.51, Standard Deviation = .997); the established/recommended lending process and procedure in the bank is strictly followed(Mean = 3.30, Standard Deviation = 1.301); Relationship Officer/Credit Officer remind the bank borrower in my portfolio at least a day before their due date(Mean = 3.28, Standard Deviation =1.077); it's very easy for the customer to get loans (Mean = 3.23,

Standard Deviation = 1.047) and the lending process takes relatively a short time as the least (Mean = 2.87, Standard Deviation = 1.209).

## 4.5 Measures to improve loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank

The researcher was interested in investigating measures adopted by the bank to improve loan portfolio performance. To achieve the objective, questions were raised in line with the study objectives. The results of the finding are presented in table below:

## Table 4.8 Measures to improve loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank

	Ν	Min	Ma	Mean	Std.
			х		Deviation
1. The Credit Officers/ Relationship Officers should carry out a thorough sourcing for borrowing clients with due diligence	47	3	5	4.47	.584
2. The Credit Analysts should always adhere to all requirements on the credit policy /manual when vetting the loan proposals.	47	4	5	4.74	.441
3. The Approval Committee should ensure that the loan proposals are in line with the bank credit policy and manual before approving the loans to clients	47	4	5	4.66	.479
4. The Legal Department should ensure that all necessary security documents are perfected to safe guard the bank in case of default.	47	3	5	4.64	.568
5. The Credit Administration Department should ensure that all disbursements are in line with the approved loan parameters.	47	3	5	4.55	.544
<ol> <li>The Credit officers should closely monitor the performance of their clients /borrowers after money has been disbursed</li> </ol>	47	4	5	4.60	.496
7. The Credit Administration Department should closely monitor the performance of borrowers in terms of arrears, loans in excesses, overdrawn accounts without limits consistently and alerts relationship officers /credit officers.	47	4	5	4.68	.471
8. The supervisors should ensure that credit officers call all clients who have not paid on the second day past due date	47	2	5	4.40	.614
9. The bank should ensure that credit officers/ Relationship officers issue all clients in default for more than 14 days with a second reminder letter.	47	2	5	4.11	.914
10. The bank should ensure that credit officers/ Relationship officers present all cases above thirty days in arrears to recovery Team.	47	1	5	4.53	.776
11. The bank should ensure that credit officers continue to follow up all cases in arrears even if assigned to Recovery Team.	47	2	5	4.19	1.076
Average	47	2.91	5	4.51	.385

## Source: Primary Data

Items on the instruments evaluating measures to improve loan portfolio performance were rated on a scale of 1 to 5, the respondents score individual item highly. On average, the respondent's rating of the bank's loan portfolio performance had an average mean score of 4.51 with a standard deviation (SD) of .385. The respondent's view on the individual items revealed that credit analysts should always adhere to all requirements on the credit policy/manual when vetting the loan proposals was rated high (Mean = 4.74, Standard Deviation = .441); followed by Credit Administration Department should closely monitor the performance of borrowers(mean = 4.68, standard deviation = .471); Approval Committee should ensure that the loan proposals are in line with the bank credit policy and manual (Mean = 4.66, standard deviation = .479); Legal Department should ensure that all necessary security documents are perfected to safe guard the bank in case of default(Mean = 4.64, Standard Deviation = .568; Credit officers should closely monitor the performance of their clients/borrowers after money has been disbursed(Mean = 4.60, Standard Deviation = .496); Credit Administration Department should ensure that all disbursements are in line with the approved loan parameters (Mean = 4.55, Standard Deviation = .544); bank should ensure that credit officers/ Relationship officers present all cases above thirty days in arrears to recovery team(Mean = 4.53, Standard Deviation = .776); Credit Officers/Relationship Officers should carry out a thorough sourcing for borrowing clients with due diligence (Mean = 4.47, Standard Deviation = .584); Supervisors should ensure that Credit Officers call all clients who have not paid on the second day past due date(Mean = 4.40, Standard Deviation = .614); the bank should ensure that credit officers continue to follow up all cases in arrears even if assigned to Recovery Team it's very easy for the customer to get loans (Mean = 4.19, Standard Deviation =1.076) and the bank should ensure that credit officers/ Relationship Officers issue all clients in default for more than 14 days with a second reminder letter (Mean = 4.11, Standard Deviation = .914).

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

### 5.1 Introduction

The chapter discusses the results of the research findings, provides conclusions, recommendations, areas of further research and limitations of the study. The purpose of the study was to improve on the loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited. The researcher discusses the findings in comparison to consistency and inconsistency between the study findings and literature reviewed on loan portfolio performance.

## 5.2 Discussion of Findings

The findings are discussed based on the views of the respondents in line with study objectives stated in chapter one. The discussion involves evaluation of lending process and procedures, assessment of loan portfolio performance and measures to improve on loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited.

#### 5.2.1 Lending process and procedures in Orient Bank Limited

The objective here was to evaluate the lending process and procedures of the bank. The results revealed that the bank's lending process and procedures is very good on a scale of 1-5 the respondents rated the bank's lending process and procedures very high with an average mean score of 4.51 with a standard deviation (SD) of .458.Majority of the respondent stated that before loan is given it has to be approved by credit committee who sit to evaluate the applicant's who have applied for the loan based on the credit rating criteria, which eventually narrows the client's default if the client information are properly assessed to protect owner capital since banks are mere custodians for savers financial resources, the careful assessment

ensures that whatever decision taken to give the money should guarantee its safety (Mugume, 2012). However it should be noted that such evaluation are subjective based on the opinion of the expert (Kaboyo, 2010); having granted the loan does not guarantee that the client will pay the loan back as a personal opinion might not reflect the true nature of the loan applicants (Altman & Saunders, 1998).

The result also indicated that legal Team ensures loans are given to borrowers with perfected documentation (Mean = 4.49, SD = .748) and the bank collects information on loan applicant's credit history (Mean = 4.40, SD = .648) were moderately implying that the bank does not pay much attention to such item yet when it come to recovery that would be a fallback position to secure bad loan. Ideally, the bank must always follow what is stipulated in the credit policy document whenever granting loan to ensure quality loan to clients (Internal Memorandum, 2009).

#### 5.2.2 Assessment of loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited

The objective was to assess the bank's loan portfolio performance. The results revealed that the bank's loan portfolio performance is poor. The average score presented by the respondents depicts that the loan portfolio performance of the bank on a scale of 1-5 is 3.52with a standard deviation (SD) of .654. This imply that bank loan performance in not good an indication that few of the bank portfolio are good and majority of the bank's clients are likely to default (Mugume, 2014).

This is due the fact that the bank has instituted good measure to assess portfolio performance; however, due to one reason or the other, these mechanisms are not strictly adhered to following answers the respondents pegged on the research instrument evaluating portfolio performance in the bank as there is laxity in following the bank lending process and procedure (Mugume, 2012), some credit officer do not send reminder to the borrowers about due date, some of the credit officer do not have strong relationship. Basically, some customers need to be reminded even if they were aware of the payment dates due. Some people will stay with money unless reminded (Kaboyo, 2011) while laxity on the lending procedures mean that even bad loan can easily be granted which affects the bank's portfolio performance (Bank of Uganda, 2013), we are aware that we operate in a competitive environment that should guarantee granting a loan to whoever ask for it, but should be based on sound credit ratings to have a clean portfolios capable of sustaining the bank's activity and performance (Anon, 2004).

#### 5.2.3 Measures to improve loan portfolio performance in Orient Bank Limited

The objective was to evaluate the measures to improve loan portfolio performance in the bank. The results revealed that the instruments evaluating measures to improve loan portfolio performance are very good and the respondents score them highly. On average, the respondent's rating of the bank's loan portfolio performance had an average mean score of 4.51 with a standard deviation (SD) of .385.But the issue of concern is that why is it that the bank continued to register poor portfolio performance, yet they have one of the best mechanisms to improve on the bad loans (Pasha & Khamra, 2010). Ideally, it can be noted these are policies developed by management there could be problem with implementation by operational staff and managers (Kaddu, 2014). With such a good measures instituted one would expect the bank to improve the quality of portfolio held that lowers the default hence fulfilling the interest of the bank's stakeholders (Comptroller's Hand Book, 1989).

Based on the respondents, view the best measures include; credit analysts should always adhere to all requirements on the credit policy, Credit Administration Department should closely monitor the performance of borrowers, Approval Committee should ensure that the loan proposals are in line with the bank credit policy, Legal Department should ensure that all necessary security documents are perfected, Credit officers should closely monitor the performance of their clients after money has been disbursed, Credit Administration Department ensure that all disbursements are in line with the approved loan parameters, bank should ensure that credit officers present all necessary cases above one thirty days in arrears to recovery team, Credit Officers should carry out a thorough sourcing for borrowing clients, Supervisors should ensure that Credit Officers call clients constantly, the bank should ensure that credit officers continue to follow cases of arrears and the credit officers issue all clients reminder were the measures which were rated high up in the order of importance.

### 5.3 Conclusions

From the study findings it can be concluded that the lending process and procedures of Orient Bank was very good based on the evaluation of the respondents who rated it highly compared to other instruments. On average, the respondent's rating of the bank's lending process and procedures of loan had an average mean score of 4.51 with a standard deviation (SD) of .458.With this we expect the bank to always have a clean portfolio due to the rigorous process the loan go through before they are granted to the clients.

The respondent's rating of the bank's loan portfolio performance had an average mean score of 3.52 with a standard deviation (SD) of .654. Implying that loan portfolio performance at the bank is weak due to weak rating by the respondents. Issues of bad or non-performing or irrecoverable loans seem to be a common play in the bank.

The overall rating on the instrument evaluating measures to improve loan portfolio performance was the best overall with lowest standard deviation. The average score for the bank's measures to improve loan portfolio performance had an average mean score of 4.51 with a standard deviation (SD) of .385. Implying they have very good measure meant to safeguard against defaulters in the bank. With such we expect the bank to have lower default rate and a good portfolio quality.

#### 5.4 **Recommendations**

Management should ensure that the bank has an effective loan review system and controls that identify, monitor and address loan quality problems in an accurate and timely manner. The loan review system and controls must be responsive to changes in internal and external factors affecting the level of credit risk in the portfolio as well as prioritize and strengthen the credit verification and approval practices.

Management should also ensure the prompt identification of bad loans and adequate classification and provisioning for such loans. Management to formulate adequate and clear policies and procedures for writing-off impaired loans. For a loan to be impaired management must first approve according to the operating policy, which need to be centralized at the head office to avoid conflicting views in the different branches.

Monitoring should form the basis of the bank's activity. It's important for the bank to monitor their clients upon picking a loan to see where it has been invested and how it is performing for them to avoid being caught off guard. The bank should call their clients on a regular basis to find out how their businesses are running, have monthly bank visits to clients, and respond to client concerns. The bank needs to have a customer friendly recovery process, before a recovery is initiated a reminder and demand notices need to be sent to clients and make the guarantors clearly aware of their responsibilities and implications at the time of taking loans. This is critical as it is a cornerstone for customer retention.

The Credit Management Committee should have a clear loan approval policies and procedures with particular reference to criteria, authorization and limits on the amount to approve.

Management should increase reference to the credit reference bureau during the process of disbursing loans to clients, as well as strict enforcement of requirements for approval of loan application

Management should ensure that the bank's process of determining an adequate level of loan loss provisions is based on a comprehensive, adequately documented, and consistently applied analysis of the bank's loan portfolio management that considers all significant factors that affect the collectability of the portfolio and supports the range of credit losses estimated by this process.

Management should formulate and approve detailed policy on the classification of impaired loans and provisioning which are consistent with the bank's operating procedures. The policy should address the classification of various types of loans and financing facilities.

There should be frequent training to staff on portfolio management to ensure that they know how to give out loans and monitor the portfolio performance as well as interpret the financial figures with accuracy to the bank management. This will help staff to know of their actual contribution to the bank. Management should ensure that borrowers are sensitized on the consequences of diverting the funds disbursed to them to uses that were not approved by the bank at the time of lending because this leads to defaults.

## 5.5 Limitations of the Study

The respondents were busy and usually uncooperative that why the response was small than what the researcher had expected.

Secondly, financial institutions are very secretive in disclosing information on portfolio performance with ease.

### 5.6 Areas of further studies

The researcher recommends the following areas following areas for future researchers since the study was constrained by time factors and scope. This eventually limited the researcher from carrying out an in depth on emerging issues that came up during literature review. The areas includes;

- Monitoring loan portfolio performance among financial institutions in Uganda.
- Evaluation of bank's lending process and loan portfolio quality.
- An assessment of factor affecting portfolio performance in the banking sector.
- Measures to improve portfolio growth in financial institution in Uganda.

#### REFERENCES

- Ali and Dlay (2010). Patterns of International **Portfolio** Investment A Case of Australia', Studies in Trade.
- Amin, M. E. (2005) Social Science Research: Conception, methodology and analysis.Kampala: Makerere University Printery.
- Anon, J (2004) Performance of Financial Institutions in Uganda, New Vision Publications, Kampala, 5(4), pg 7, 6th August 2004.
- Bank of Uganda (2013) Central Bank Rate Maintained at 12 Percent in October. Retrieved from:http://www.bou.or.ug/bou/media/statements/Monetary-policy-statement-for-October-2013.html
- Bank of Uganda (2013) welcome to bank of Uganda. Retrieved from; http://www.bou.or.ug/bou/home.html
- Bank of Uganda (2013), Annual Headline Inflation Rises to 8.0 percent in September. Retrieved from http://www.bou.or.ug/bou/media/statements/CPI\_September\_2013.html
- Bank of Uganda, (2000). Annual Report Seyfried, B. (2001), "Managing risk with credit default swaps", Corporate Finance, Vol. 201 pp.37-38.
- Barton, S.L. and Mathews, C.H. (1989), Small Fir, Financing: Implications from the Strategic Management Perspective, Journal of Small Business Management, Vol. 27 No. 1, pp.1-8
- Basel (2004), "Basel II: international convergence of capital measurement and capital standards: a revised framework", available at: www.bis.org/publ/bcbs107.htm.

- Brewer, E. Milton, B. A. and Moser, J. T. (2000), Interest-rate Derivatives and Bank-lending. Journal of Banking and Finance 24, 353–379.
- Cebenoyan, S. A.and Strahan, P. E. (2004) Risk Management, Capital Structure and Lending at Banks. Mimeo Wharton Financial Institutions Center.
- CGAP/ World Bank (208: 2009) Delinquency management and Interest rate setting for Microfinance Institutions: Consultative Group to Assist the Poor, Washington DC 20433.
- Cheema Parijat, CFA and Carr Daniel (2011) Bank Loan portfolios: Value proposition in the search for Diversification and Yield.
- Comptroller hand book 1998. Loan portfolio management http://www.occ.gov/publications/publications-by-type/comptrollers-handbook/lpm.pdf
- Credit Management News and Tips by Compuscan. The practical impact of the national credit Act Compuscan Presenting at the credit Management Technology Confrence-Posted on October 8, 2010.
- Credit Reference Bureau Team (n.d) Why Banks should embrace Credit reference bureau. Retrieved from: Ehlers, L. I. (2002). A Validated Model of the South African Labour Relations System. Doctoral Thesis. University of Pretoria.
- Default Recovery Rates in credit Risk Modeling:A review of literature and Empirical Evidence- Edward Altman,Andrea Resti & Andrea Sironi.

- Discussion paper-Series 2: Banking and Financial Studies No 05/2006Does Diversification improve the performance of German BankEvidence from individual bank loan portfolios-Evelyn Hayden, Daniel Porath,Natalja Von Western Hagen.
- Figlewski, Frydman & Liang (2012). The New Frontier in Risk Assessment: Estimation of CorporateCredit Rating Quality in Emerging Markets

  - Fofack, Hippolyte (2005). "Non-performing loans in sub-Saharan Africa: Causal Analysis and Macroeconomic Implications." World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 3769, November.
  - Gaganis, Pasiouras, Doumpos & Zopounidis (2010). Modelling Banking Sector Stability with Multicriteria Approaches.
  - Greenidge. K. and Grosvenor, T. (2010) Forecasting Non-performing loans in Barbados. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.ccmf-uwi.org/files/publications/journal/2010\_1\_5/79\_108.pdf</u>
  - Hamerle, Dartsch, Jobst, Plant (2011). Macroeconomics factors that affects lending in Albania.
  - Hasan, Ifterkhar, and Sudipto Sarkar. (2002). Banks' Option to Lend, Interest Rate Sensitivity, and Credit Availability. Review of Derivatives Research 5:213–50.
  - Jakubik (2007). Execution, bankruptcy and their macroeconomic determinants / Exekuce, bankroty a jejich makroekonomické determinant.
  - Jimenez, Gabriel and Jesus Saurina (2005) "Credit cycles, credit risk, and prudential regulation" Banco de Espana, January.

- Kaboyo S. (2014). "There is little reason to think that BOU will change policy at this stage ahead of the budget statement for 2014/2015 where the impact of new economic policies on the markets has not yet been assessed going forward,".
- Kaddu M. (2014). NEXIM and SME Beneficiary Projects of Loan Facility July 13, 2014 Lifted and published by Korir, API\*APN.
- Kasibante, M. (2001). Interest rates for the Micro finance Banker.Vol. 1Issue l, June 2001, P.26.
- Keeton, W and Morris, C. S. (1987). "Why Do Banks' Loan Losses Differ?" Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, Economic Review, May, pp. 3-21.
- Khemraj, T and Pasha, S. (n.d) The determinants of non-performing loans: an econometric case study of Guyana.
- Krejcie, R., & Morgan, D. (1970). Determining sample size for research activities. Educational and psychological measurement, 30, 607 610.

Loan portfolio management-Controllers Hand Book-April 1998.

Louis and Henry (2003) Financing Small and Medium Scale Enterprises (SMEs): Uganda's Experience.

Mbanga J (2009) Interest rates: Bank of Uganda changes tactics, The Weekly Observer.

- Mugenda, O.M and Mugenda, A.G (1999) Research Methods: Quantitative & Qualitative approaches, Acts Press
- Mugume D. (2014).Corporate Companies Not Making Profits BoUA huge chunk of Ugandan corporate business companies are no longer remitting taxes to Uganda Revenue Authority (URA).
- Mutebile T. E (2008) Uganda's new credit reference bureau. Speech by Governor of the Bank of Uganda, at the launch of the Credit reference bureau, Bank of Uganda. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.bis.org/review/r081205c.pdf</u>.
- Mwesigwa A. (2014). Banks make big losses as economy continues to limp, the Observer.

Naceur and Omran (2011). The determinants of stock market development in the Middle-Eastern and North.

- Dissertation on "The Role of Credit Management in the Performance of Indigenous Commercial Banks: A case study of Centenary Bank, Entebbe Road Branch".
- Okurut F.N Banga M., and Muungu A., (2004), Microfinance and Poverty Reduction I Uganda: Achievements and Challenges. Economic Policy Research Centre, research series No. 41.
- Pasha S. and Khamraj T. (2010) "The determinants of Non-Performing Loans: an econometric case study of Guyana.
- Piana Valentino (2002) Interest rates a key concept in Economicshttp://www.economicswebinstitute.org/essays/credit.html.

- Puxty, Anthony & Dodd's. (1991): Financial management; methods and meaning (2nd Ed), Chapman and hall Ltd .London.
- Rajan, Rajiv and Sarat C. Dhal (2003) "Non-performing Loans and Terms of Credit of Public Sector Banks in India: An Empirical Assessment." Occasional Papers, 24:3, pp. 81-121, Reserve Bank of India.
- San José Riestra, A. (2002), "Credit bureaus in today's credit markets", ECRI Research Report No. 4, September 2002.
- Saunders, Anthony, and Marcia Cornett. (2003). Financial Institutions Management: A Risk Management Approach. 4th ed. Irwin/McGraw-Hill.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2009), Research Methods for Business Students, Pearson Education, London.
- Servigny, Arnaud and Olivier Renault (2004). The Standard & Poor's Guide to Measuring and Managing Credit Risk. McGraw-Hill. ISBN 13 978-0071417556. Country risk survey": Biannual survey which monitors the political and economic stability of 185 sovereign countries, according to ratings agencies and market experts. The information is compiled from Risk analysts; poll of economic projections; on GNI; World Bank's Global Development Finance data.
- Sinkey, J. F. and Greenwalt, M. B. a(1991). "Loan-Loss Experience and Risk-Taking Behvior at Large Commercial Banks." Journal of Financial Services Research, 5, pp.43-59.

Soita, P. W.(2012). Customer's Perception about Service Quality in Commercial Health and Fitness Clubs in Uganda. Journal of Education and Practice, Vol 3, No 4.

- Stankeviciene & Mencaite (2012). Macroeconomic models are also the very useful tools for central banks for research and management of banking system
- Statutory Instrument (Credit Classification and Provisioning) Regulations 2005 Statutory Instruments Supplement No 18. Annual Report Orient Bank Limited 2010, 2011, 2012.
- The Economics of money, Banking, Financial Markets (Seventh Edition)-fredrick s Mishkin.Wall, Larry D., and Timothy W. Koch. (2000). Bank loan loss accounting: A review of theoretical and empirical evidence. Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta Economic Review 85, no. 2:1–19.
- Walter, John R. (1991). Loan loss reserves. Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond Economic Review 77, no. 4:20–30.
- Zarruk, Emilio, and Jeff Madura. (1992). Optimal Bank Interest Margin under Capital Regulation and Deposit Insurance. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 27, no. 1:143–49.
- Zarruk, Emilio. (1989). Bank Spread with Uncertain Deposit Level and Risk Aversion. Journal of Banking and Finance 13:797–810.

## **APPENDIX I**

#### MAKERERE



#### **OUESTIONNAIRE ON IMPROVING LOAN PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT**

#### Dear Respondent,

I am a student of Makerere University Business School pursuing Master of Science in Banking and Investment Management of Makerere University. As part of my study programme, I am undertaking an investigation on the topic Improving Loan Portfolio Management at Orient Bank Limited. You have been selected as a respondent in the study because I believed you have information necessary for the successful completion of the research project.

This is therefore to request you to respond to the following questions by ticking the option that best suits your opinions. Please be assured that the data collected will be strictly confidential and used for academic purpose. To ensure anonymity, you are not supposed to write your name in the questionnaire.

Kindly spare 10-25 minutes to answer the questions and provide the valuable information following the directions in the questionnaire.

### SECTION A: BACKGROUND INFORMATION

- 1. Gender: Male Female
- 2. What is the level of your highest formal education attainment

**Bachelor** Degree Master Degree PhD

49

3. What is your age bracket(Tick the most appropriate)

20-25	25-30	30-35	35-40	40 above

4. How long Have you worked with this Bank

Less than 5 years	L	Less than 15 years	
Less than 10 years		More than 15 years	•

5. Have you worked with other banks as a Credit Officer/Relationship Officer/Manager?

Yes No

## **SECTION B: PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT**

Please indicate the extent of your agreement and disagreement by ticking ( $\sqrt{}$ ) or circling the appropriate number as provided below:

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

Α	LENDING PROCESS AND PROCEDURES FOR LOANS					
1	The bank starts its loan process after the borrower has applied for a	1	2	3	4	5
	loan.					
2	The bank collects information on loan applicants before approving	1	2	3	4	5
	loans					
3	The bank collects information on loan applicant's credit history and	1	2	3	4	5
	status using Credit Reference Bureau.					
4	The Credit analyst checks the validity of information collected by	1	2	3	4	5
	Relationship Officers/Relationship Managers.					

5	The bank collects information on loan applicants banking activity.	1	2	3	4	5
6	The reports compiled by the Relationship Officers about loan applicant are validated by Credit Analysts.	1	2	3	4	5
7	Credit Analyst vets the borrowers basing on the valid information collected by the Relationship Officers.	1	2	3	4	5
8	The loans are approved by Management Credit Committee or Board	1	2	3	4	5
	Credit Committee before prior disbursement of loans or funds					
9	The Legal Team ensures that loans are given only to borrowers with	1	2	3	4	5
D	perfected documentation details.					
B	ASSESSMENT OF LOAN PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE	SC	COR	ES		
1	It's very easy for the customer to get loans in the bank after they					
	have put in their requests.	1	2	3	4	5
2	The lending process takes relatively a short time thus favouring the	1	2	3	4	5
	customer's needs.					
3	The established/recommended lending process and procedure in the	1	2	3	4	5
	bank is strictly followed from the credit officer to the approval.					
4	The draw down process by the credit admin team is strictly followed	1	2	3	4	5
	in terms of correct or set rates, amount, currency and accounts.					
5	Relationship Officers/Managers ensure close monitoring of the	1	2	3	4	5
	borrower after money has been availed to them through frequent					
	visits.					
6	As a Relationship Officer I review the bank borrower's accounts	1	2	3	4	5
	daily to confirm that they still consistently bank with the bank.					

7	As Credit Officer I review the various reports (arrears, excess,	1	2	3	4	5
	overdrawn accounts without limits) to ensure the clients don't					
	become bad debtors.					
0		1				-
8	As Relationship Officer/Credit Officer I reminds the bank borrower	1	2	3	4	5
	in my portfolio at least a day before their due date to clear their due					
	installment.					
9	As Credit Officer/Relationship Officer I duly update the clients file	1	2	3	4	5
	with all new information that I collect about any new developments.					
10	As Credit Officer once I find any anomaly with the borrowers	1	2	3	4	5
	financed project I duly inform my immediate supervisors.					
11	As Credit Officer/Relationship Officer I have a strong relationship	1	2	3	4	5
	with my client that incase of ups and downs in business I advice					
	accordingly.					
C	accordingly.           MEASURES         TO         IMPROVE         LOAN         PORTFOLIO	SC	OR	ES		
С		SC	OR	ES		
<b>C</b>	MEASURES TO IMPROVE LOAN PORTFOLIO	SC	OR	ES		
	MEASURES TO IMPROVE LOAN PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE	<b>SC</b>	<b>OR</b>	<b>ES</b>	4	5
	MEASURES       TO       IMPROVE       LOAN       PORTFOLIO         PERFORMANCE       The Credit Officers/Relationship Officers should carry out a				4	5 5
1	MEASURES       TO       IMPROVE       LOAN       PORTFOLIO         PERFORMANCE	1	2	3		
1	MEASURES       TO       IMPROVE       LOAN       PORTFOLIO         PERFORMANCE	1	2	3		
1	MEASURES       TO       IMPROVE       LOAN       PORTFOLIO         PERFORMANCE	1	2	3	4	5
1	MEASURESTOIMPROVELOANPORTFOLIOPERFORMANCEThe Credit Officers/Relationship Officers should carry out a thorough sourcing for borrowing clients with due diligence.The Credit Analysts should always adhere to all requirements on the credit policy/manual when vetting the loan proposals.The Approval Committee should ensure that the loan proposals are	1	2	3	4	5

	documents are perfected to safe guard the bank in case of default.					
	1 0					
5	The Credit Administration Department should ensure that all	1	2	3	4	5
	disbursements are in line with the approved loan parameters.					
6	The Credit Officers should closely monitor the performance of their	1	2	3	4	5
	clients/borrowers after money has been disbursed.					
7	The Credit Administration Department should closely monitors the	1	2	3	4	5
	performance of borrowers in terms of arrears, loans in excesses,					
	overdrawn accounts without limits consistently and alerts					
	Relationship Officers/Credit Officers.					
8	The Supervisors should ensure that Credit Officers call all clients	1	2	3	4	5
	who have not paid on the second day past due date.					
10	The bank should ensure that Credit Officers/Relationship Officers	1	2	3	4	5
	issue all clients in default for more than 14 days with a second					
	reminder letter.					
11	The bank should ensure that the Credit Officers/Relationship	1	2	3	4	5
	Officers present all cases above thirty days in arrears to the					
	Recovery Team.					

Thanks for your participation.